#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC03-622 Second DCA Case No. 2D01-3535

ANTHONY T. BODDEN,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

JENNY SCAVINO SIEG
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0117285
Office of the Attorney General
Criminal Appeals Division
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
(813)287-7900
Facsimile (813)281-5500

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, The State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellee in the Second District Court of Appeal of Florida. Respondent, Anthony T. Bodden, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Second District Court of Appeal. The symbol "R" designates the original record on appeal, including the transcript of the hearing on the motion in limine before the county court and the deposition of Dale Livingston.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 7, 2000, police issued Respondent a traffic citation for driving under the influence pursuant to Florida Statutes section 316.193. (R. at 4.) In the criminal report affidavit, the attesting officer stated that he responded as back-up to a another officer conducting a traffic stop of Respondent. (R. at 7.) The officer noticed that Respondent had red eyes, slurred speech, and swayed while he stood. (R. at 7.) He also noticed an odor of alcohol on Respondent's breath. (R. at 7.)

The officer read Respondent the implied consent warning and Respondent agreed to a breath test. (R. at 7.) The results of the breath test revealed that Respondent's blood alcohol level was .060 and .065. (R. at 5.) Police searched Respondent and found less than 20 grams of marijuana in his pocket, as well as a marijuana pipe and rolling papers. (R. at 7.) The State filed an information and charged Respondent with one count of driving under the influence, one count of possession of cannabis, and one count of possession of drug paraphernalia. (R. at 8.)

On February 7, 2001, Respondent filed a motion in limine regarding defendant's urine test and urine test results #1 and motion in exclude regarding defendant's urine test and urine

test results #2. (R. at 11, 14.) In the motions, Respondent asked the court to limine any reference to his urine test results because no regulatory criteria had been promulgated to insure the reliability of the urine testing procedure. (R. at 14.)

The court held a hearing on the motions on April 6, 2001. The defense stipulated that Respondent submitted to a urine test and the results were positive for a controlled substance. (R. at 32.) The State also stipulated that had Marcia Barnhart, a State witness in the instant case, testified about the procedures used to test urine in Florida, it would be the same as the deposition of Dale Livingston taken in a different case. (R. at 31.) Dale Livingston's deposition is part of the record on appeal. The deposition was taken in the case of State of Florida v. Michael Pacheco.

In the deposition, Mr. Livingston testified that he works at the Florida Department of Law Enforcement Crime Laboratory (FDLE) in Tallahassee. (R. at 113.) He has been qualified as an expert in several circuits and has testified in 12 to 20 cases dealing with urine, drugs, and DUI in the last few years. (R. at 130.)

The analysis he performs is semi-quantitative in nature.

(R. at 130.) The procedures that he runs on blood and urine

for drug determinations or drug analysis are controlled to the point that he can determine an approximation of the drug in the sample. (R. at 130.) However, he stated that it can be very difficult to determine precisely when the drug was taken. (R. at 131.) Based on rates of elimination of drugs from the body, he can make broad estimates of how long drugs will stay in the person's system after they have stopped taking them. Id.

Mr. Livingston stated that there are situations where he could have an opinion about whether the person was under the influence of the drug at the time of arrest. (R. at 132.)

However, that would be an exception rather than the rule. Id. He further stated that based on his knowledge and understanding of pharmacology and toxicology, he did not think one could take a drug concentration from a urine sample and extrapolate a degree of impairment. (R. at 135.) That information is evidence of drug usage, not necessarily drug impairment. (R. at 136.) The mere presence of a drug in a urine sample by itself does not prove impairment. Id.

As to the procedures for testing urine samples, Mr.

Livingston testified that there is a written procedure. As
senior analyst in the Tallahassee section and as part of the
written protocol for FDLE, it is his responsibility to

maintain the methods manual in the lab. (R. at 139, 140.) This procedure has not been published in Administrative Law Weekly or promulgated in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act. (R. at 140.) Mr. Livingston stated that it had not been promulgated because there was no requirement. (R. at 140.)

Mr. Livingston wrote the procedure and it is used by the Tallahassee toxicology lab, which consists of four other analysts. (R. at 138.) He adapted the procedure from published procedures, but his particular procedure has not been published. (R. at 137, 138.) The main steps in the testing procedure involves hydrolysis of the glucuronide conjugates that are in the urine sample, an extraction and derivation step, and an analysis on the GC mass spec. (R. at 137.) The difference between what he does in the lab and what most of the published procedures do is that he uses a full scan mass spectrum on the identification rather than selected icon monitoring, a common method used in urine testing programs.

Id. Mr. Livingston believed that the full scan gave more accurate results. Id.

Mr. Livingston stated that it is common practice to take a procedure that has been developed elsewhere and adapt or modify it for use in your own lab. (R. at 138-139.) The basic

concepts, methods, and techniques, are not novel and they have been published and peer reviewed in literature. (R. at 139.)

As far as Mr. Livingston knew, other laboratories had not adapted the procedure. (R. at 138.)

Mr. Livingston also testified to the specific testing he performed on Michael Pacheco's urine sample and the results obtained from the testing. In urine and drug analysis, a normal batch of samples includes a spiked standard of 200 nanograms per milliliter, another spiked control at 20 nanograms per milliliter, and a urine blank. (R. at 143.) The extractions are done in the lab and once complete, they are loaded on the mass spectrometer to run the experiment. (R. at 144.) Unlike with blood alcohol concentration, Mr. Livingston checks only to see if the substance is present. (R. at 145.)

Michael Pacheco's urine tested positive for cocaine. (R. at 164.) Mr. Livingston could not say when Mr. Pacheco took the cocaine or whether he was impaired at the time of his arrest, but it was his opinion that the level of concentration of cocaine would have an effect on his body. (R. at 167, 168, 169.)

Mr. Livingston testified that his understanding of the implied consent rule is that the approval requirement is specifically for the breath testing and the alcohol testing.

(R. at 177.) He stated that there was no requirement in the administrative rule for any approval of drug testing procedures for urine or blood. <u>Id.</u> FDLE formulated a protocol used by all labs for the testing of urine samples. (R. at 1791, 181-182.) The final draft was not subject to rule promulgation. (R. at 183.)

As to the argument in support of the motion in limine, the defense contended that the urine test results should be limited for three reasons. One, the urine testing procedures are not considered an approved test. (R. at 34.) Two, the procedures used to test the urine were never promulgated in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act. (R. at 34.) Three, FDLE's procedures unlawfully usurp the discretion of the State Attorney's Office. (R. at 35.) The defense also argued that the State cannot rely on implied consent because there was no rule. (R. at 42.)

The State argued that the term "approved test" does not apply to urine. (R. at 70.) Since there does not have to be an approved test for urine, the State submitted that it would not argue presumptions in urine. (R. at 72.) In addition, since the statute does not mandate a rule for urine tests, the State argued that suppression was an inadequate remedy. (R. at 73.) The State also contended that there was no invalid delegation

of authority by FDLE because the statute does not delegate authority to FDLE. (R. at 74.) Finally, the State argued that even if a rule was necessary, the State should be allowed to introduce the evidence of the test results through the traditional predicate.

The court reserved ruling on the motion. (R. at 97.) The county court entered an Order Granting Defendant's Motion in Limine regarding Defendant's Urine Test and Urine Test Results. (R. at 17.) The next day, on June 29 2001, the county court entered an Amended Order Granting Defendant's Motion in Limine regarding Defendant's Urine Test and Urine Test Results. (R. at 19.) In the order, the county court certified the following question of great public importance to the Second District Court of Appeal, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.160:

IN ADMINISTERING FLORIDA'S IMPLIED CONSENT LAW, IS THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT REQUIRED TO ADOPT RULES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT GOVERNING THE COLLECTION, PRESERVATION, AND ANALYSIS OF URINE SAMPLES OBTAINED BY LAW ENFORCEMENT PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 316.1932(1)(a)?

The State filed a timely notice of appeal with the Second

District Court of Appeal on July 11, 2001. (R. at 21.)

Subsequent to the notice of appeal, the court entered a Second

Amended Order Granting Defendant's Motion in Limine Regarding

Defendant's Urine Test and Urine Test Results on October 12, 2001. (R. at 25.)

On October 30, 2002, the Second District Court of Appeal entered an opinion affirming the county court's order. In the opinion, the Second District concluded that a urine test taken pursuant to implied consent must be "approved" in order to be admissible. The Second District also concluded that because Respondent's consent to the test was involuntary, the State could not use the traditional rules of admissibility in order to admit the urine test results.

On or about November 12, 2002, Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, or in the Alternative, Motion for Certification. The Second District granted Petitioner's Motion for Certification on March 28, 2002. On April 3, Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke this Court's Jurisdiction.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal erred when it affirmed the county court's order granting the motion in limine. The clear and unambiguous language in section 316.1932(1)(a)(1) suggests that a urine test conducted pursuant to implied consent does not require a rule promulgation under the Florida Administrative Procedures Act. Furthermore, neither in section 316.1932 nor any other related section of the Florida Statutes is there language which gives the Florida Department of Law Enforcement authority to promulgate rules for urine tests. Finally, the Second District also erroneously disallowed the State to introduce the evidence of Respondent's positive urine test result into evidence under the traditional rules of admissibility. Petitioner respectfully asks this Court to answer the certified question from the Second District Court of Appeal in the negative and reverse the Second District's opinion affirming the county court's granting of the motion in limine.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

IN ADMINISTERING FLORIDA'S IMPLIED CONSENT LAW, IS THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT REQUIRED TO ADOPT RULES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT GOVERNING THE COLLECTION, PRESERVATION, AND ANALYSIS OF URINE SAMPLES OBTAINED BY LAW ENFORCEMENT PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 316.1932(1)(a)?

The county court granted Respondent's Motion in Limine Regarding Defendant's Urine Test and Urine Test Results and certified a question of great public importance to the Second District Court of Appeal. The Second District affirmed the county court's ruling, but granted Petitioner's request to certify the question to this Court. Petitioner submits that this Court should answer the question in the negative and conclude that Florida Statutes section 316.1932(1)(a)(1) does not require the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) to adopt rules in accordance with the Florida Administrative Procedures Act (APA) as it relates to the collection, preservation, and analysis of urine samples.

The order under review is an order granting a motion in limine which, in effect, suppressed Respondent's urine test results. A suppression ruling comes to the reviewing court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is the question certified by the county court in its order dated June 29, 2001.

clad in a presumption of correctness as to all fact-based issues, and the proper standard of review depends on the nature of the ruling in each case. State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So. 2d 297, 306 (Fla. 2001). Since the Second District's holding presents a question of law only, it is subject to de novo review. Id. at 306, n.7. Applying the de novo review standard, this Court should find that the Second District's decision must be reversed for several reasons.

In this case, law enforcement stopped Respondent's vehicle based on the suspicion that Respondent was impaired. Respondent submitted to a breath test and his results were .060 and .065, below the legal limit for impairment. (R. at 4.) Police then read Respondent the implied consent warning and asked Respondent to submit to a urine test. FDLE tested the urine in accordance with their internal operations manual and concluded that the sample was positive for cannabis. (R. at 32.)

The Second District's certified question limits the issue in this case to whether FDLE must adopt rules in accordance with the APA when testing urine under the implied consent law. The Second District's decision to answer the certified question in the affirmative was erroneous for three reasons.

One, the Second District incorrectly concluded that the term

"approved" in Florida Statutes section 316.1932(1)(a)(1)
applies to "a urine test for purposes of detecting the
presence of chemical substances ...or controlled substances."
Two, the Second District mistakenly concluded that Florida
Statutes section 316.1932(1)(a)(1) gives FDLE authority to
promulgate rules with respect to urine testing. Three, the
Second District erroneously concluded that the implied consent
law makes urine test results inadmissible as a scientific test
pursuant to the traditional rules regarding the admissibility
of evidence. Petitioner reiterates the State's arguments
below and contends that Respondent's urine test results are
admissible even though FDLE's urine testing procedures have
not been formally adopted as a rule.

A. The Clear and Unambiguous Language in Florida Statutes Section 316.1932(1)(a)(1) Demonstrates that a Urine Test Conducted Under Implied Consent Does not Need to Be Approved Under the APA.

In making its finding, the Second District erroneously concluded that Florida Statutes section 316.1932(1)(a) was ambiguous and capable of different constructions. This Court has repeatedly held that the plain meaning of statutory language is the first consideration of statutory construction.

Jones v. State, 813 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 2002). When the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear

and definite meaning, the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning. Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984). A reviewing court is without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications and to do so would be an abrogation of legislative power. Id. Applying that standard here, the language of section 316.1932(1)(a)(1) is clear and unambiguous and should be given its plain meaning.

The officer in this case requested a sample of Respondent's urine pursuant to Florida Statutes section 316.1932(1)(a)(1). That subsection states the following:

Any person who accepts the privilege extended by the laws of this state of operating a motor vehicle within this state is, by so operating such vehicle, deemed to have given his or her consent to submit to an approved chemical test or physical test including, but not limited to, an infrared light test of his or her breath for the purpose of determining the alcoholic content of his or her blood or breath, and to a urine test for the purpose of detecting the presence of chemical substances as set forth in s. 877.111 or controlled substances, if the person is lawfully arrested for any offense allegedly committed while the person was driving or was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcoholic beverages, chemical substances, or controlled substances.

§ 316.1932(1)(a)(1), Fla. Stat. (2000) (emphasis added).

The language in this statute shows that when a person in

Florida accepts driving privileges, he or she gives implied

consent to two different tests. One is an approved chemical or physical test for the purpose of determining the alcoholic content of his or her blood or breath. The other is a urine test for the purpose of detecting the presence of chemical or controlled substances.

The word "and" operates as a conjunctive only in the sense that implied consent subjects a person to the possibility of taking a breath test, blood test, urine test, or a combination, such as in this case where Respondent took a breath test and a urine test.

The comma which precedes the words "urine test" shows that section 316.1932(1)(a)(1) should be read as two sentences. Under the rule of grammatical construction, a qualifying phrase is read as limited to the last item in a series when the phrase follows that item without a comma. Edgewater Beach Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Walton County, 833 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). In this case, where there is a comma, the qualifying phrase "approved chemical or physical test" is limited only to the words preceding the comma. Thus, the term "approved physical or chemical test" does not modify the words "urine test." If the Legislature had intended for urine tests to be "approved," one would expect that the language in the statute would have stated that a person who

accepts driving privileges in this State gives their implied consent to an "approved urine test." By reading the plain meaning of the statutory language, it is clear that the term "approved" does not apply to urine tests.

Even if this Court concludes that the statute in question is ambiguous, two rules of statutory construction demonstrate that the Florida Legislature did not intend to require rule promulgation in accordance with the APA for urine testing. First, when interpreting a statute, this Court has previously stated that all parts of a statute must be read together in order to achieve a consistent whole. T.R. v. State, 677 So. 2d 270, 271 (Fla. 1996). Courts must give effect to all statutory provisions and construe related statutory provisions in harmony with one another. Id.

The Second District acknowledged this rule of statutory construction in its opinion, but applied the rule incorrectly. The Second District concluded that reading section 316.1932(1)(a)(1) in conjunction with sections 316.1932(1)(b)(2) and 316.1932(1)(f)(1) meant that an "approved" urine test is one in which the method of administration and the analysis of the test are "performed substantially according to the methods approved by" FDLE. State v. Bodden, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D2382 (Fla. 2d DCA Oct. 30,

2002). However, related sections in Chapter 316 support
Petitioner's argument that the Legislature did not require
rule promulgation in accordance with the APA for urine
testing.

In Florida Statutes section 316.1932(1)(f), the Legislature gave FDLE specific statutory authority to create rules for breath and blood testing. That subsection states the following:

The tests determining the weight of alcohol in the defendant's **blood or breath** shall be administered at the request of a law enforcement officer substantially in accordance with rules of the Department of Law Enforcement. Such rules must specify precisely the test or tests that are approved by the Department of Law Enforcement for reliability of result and ease of administration, and must provide an approved method of administration which must be followed in all such tests given under this section.

§ 316.1932(1)(f), Fla. Stat. (2000) (emphasis added).

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