IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Petitioner,
vs.
S. Ct. CASE

S. Ct. CASE NO: SC03-622 2DCA CASE NO.: 2D01-3535

ANTHONY TROY BODDEN, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Eilam Isaak, Esq. 4021 North Armenia Avenue Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 871-1384

Fla. Bar No: 0961108

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner incorrectly states in her brief that the State was the Appellee in the Second District and that the Respondent was the Appellant.

The State was the Appellant and Mr. Bodden was the Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent accepts and adopts the statement of facts as stated by the appellant. The Respondent restates some of the facts surrounding the suppression of the urine results.

The Respondent submitted to a urine test after having been given implied consent warnings. (R. 6, 7, 31). He moved to exclude the urine tests for violation of the administrative procedures act (R. 11-16). The trial court granted the motion.(R. 25-27).

The State and Respondent agreed to the admissibility of a deposition of Mr. Dale Livingston, a chemical analyst with FDLE, and that the testimony of the analyst in this case would be the same as Mr. Livingston's from a different case. (R. 31). Mr. Livingston developed procedures for the testing for the presence of controlled substances in urine samples that is used by all the analysts through out the State of Florida. (R. 136-140, 162-163, 178-185). His procedures were never promulgated in accord with Florida

Statute 120.50 et seq. (R. 136-140, 178-185). In fact, there are no "approved urine tests" in the state of Florida in accord with Florida Statute 316.1932.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse it's discretion or fail to follow the law by excluding the urine test results. Additionally, the Second District did not err when it affirmed the county court's order excluding Bodden's urine test results.

Dale Livingston, a chemical analyst with FDLE, developed procedures to test for the presence of controlled substances in urine that are used by all analysts throughout Florida. His procedures qualify as a "rule" under Florida Statute 120.50 et seq. And therefore should have been promulgated pursuant to chapter 120.50. In addition, Florida Statute 316.1932 requires that all chemical tests be "approved" and FDLE has never approved a urine test. FDLE's failure to promulgate Dale Livingston's procedures for testing for the presence of controlled substances in urine violates the administrative procedures act.

Contrary to the Petitioner's assertion, Florida Statutes do require an approved test and do empower FDLE to promulgate rules regarding urine testing.

The trial court found a violation She also rejected the state's argument that it could still admit the urine test results under the traditional predicate

because the Defendant did not voluntarily consent to the urine test (having been given an implied consent warning, it made his consent coerced).

ARGUMENT

The State's claim that this court's standard of review is De Novo review is a gross misapplication of State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So.2d 297 (Fla. 2001). (See Glatzmayer at Footnote 7 – the court articulated the standard of review from trial court orders, not second tier appeals. The Second District's standard of review was subject to a De Novo review but not this court). The State has misapplied Glatzmayer because this is a second tier appeal, therefore, it is no longer subject to a De Novo review, rather the standard of review is whether the court departed from the essential requirements of law to the extent that the error is a violation of a clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice. Ivey v. AllState Ins. Co., 774 So.2d 679 (Fla. 2000), Combs v. State, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983), State of Florida, Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Alliston, 813 So.2d 141 (2nd DCA 2002).

ISSUE 1 – Florida Statute 316.1932 requires that the defendant submit to an approved urine test.

The trial court in this case found that Florida Statute 316.1932 requires that the Florida Department of Law Enforcement adopt an "approved urine test" in accord with the administrative procedures act, Florida Statute Chapter 120.50 et al. The trial court went on to find that no such procedure has ever been promulgated in accord with the act and that the

procedures currently used to test urine samples (because they have never been properly promulgated) violate the administrative procedures act. (R. 25-27). The Second District agreed, finding that when reading Florida Statutes in harmony, it required that an "approved" urine test be offered, rather than simply "any test".

A - What does it mean to be "approved"?

Florida Statute 316.1932 requires that every person who accepts the privilege to drive in Florida must submit to an "approved" test. Florida Statute 316.1932 (1991). Florida Statute 316.1932 does not require persons to submit to "any test", rather the specific language of the statute uses the term "approved". Florida Statute 316.1932 (1991). The term "approved" has special meaning. An "approved test" as contemplated by the implied consent law (316.1932 F.S.) is a test that has been set up (or established) in accord with the applicable administrative provisions; drivers are not required under Florida Statute 316.1932 to submit to "any test", rather only an "approved test". State v. Polak, 598 So.2d 150 (1st DCA 1992), State v. Flood, 523 So.2d 1180 (5th DCA 1988).

In both <u>Flood</u> and <u>Polak</u>, the breath machines were modified and never retested, therefore, the courts ruled that the machines were not

"approved" and suppressed the breath test results. <u>Polak</u>, Supra, <u>Flood</u>, Supra.

While Flood and Polak are breath testing cases, it is a distinction without substance. It is immaterial that the subject of this appeal is a urine test and not a breath test, the implied consent law requires that a breath, blood, or urine test be "approved". 316.1932 Florida Statutes (1991).

Florida Statute 316.1932 states:

Any person who accepts the privilege extended by the laws of this state of operating a motor vehicle within this State is, by so operating such vehicle, deemed to have given his or her consent to submit to an **approved chemical test** or physical test including, but not limited to, an infared light test of his or her breath for the purpose of determining the alcoholic content of his or her blood or breath, and to a urine test for the purpose of detecting the presence of chemical substances.... Florida Statute 316.1932 (1991). (emphasis added).

The gramatical construction of Florida Statute 316.1932 requires that the urine test be approved. While a comma appears just prior to the term "urine test", the term approved (which is mentioned earlier in the statute) is also referring to a "urine test" in addition to breath and blood. The statute clearly requires that every test, whether breath, blood, or urine, be "approved".

316.1932 Florida Statute (1991). The State's position that the coma indicates that the sentence should be read as two is incorrect. Rather, the use of the

coma instead of a semi-colon supports Mr. Bodden's argument that the term approved relates to all three possible tests, not just the two suggested by the State.

Alternatively, under the Equal Protection Clause of both the Federal and State Constitutions, a defendant charged with violating Florida's DUI Statute by impairment of controlled substances with a urine test as evidence is entitled to the same protection as a defendant charged with violating the same statute where the evidence is based on a breath test or blood test. If defendant's charged with DUI with breath or blood evidence get an "approved test", then defendant's charged with DUI by controlled substance must get an "approved test" as well.

Therefore, whether this court accepts the grammatical construction argument or the Equal Protection argument, it is immaterial because clearly, the Respondent was entitled to equal protection under the law and if the law requires breath and blood tests to be "approved", then the law must also require urine tests to also be "approved". The Respondent made these alternative arguments in the lower court. (R. 43, 85).

By analogy, this court should consider it's argument from Traylor v. State. <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992). This court in Traylor concluded that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.111 gives a right to

counsel to indigents and that to be constitutional the rights of non-indigents must be coextensive, thereby entitling non-indigents to the same rights.

Traylor at 970. This same argument applies in this case. If those defendant's who are charged with DUI by alcohol are entitled to "an approved test" then so must the defendants who are charged with DUI by controlled substances.

To say otherwise would entitle a class of defendant's to greater protection under the law and be violative of the equal protection clause.

B – Lack of sufficiency of the administrative rules.

The Florida Department of Law Enforcement pursuant to Florida

Statute 316.1932 has adopted very specific guidelines regarding what is an

"approved breath test" and what is an "approved blood test". FDLE has

failed to take the same measures regarding urine. In fact, there is no urine

test that has been subject to the formal promulgation process in compliance

with the administrative procedures act. (See Exhibit A of Respondent's

appendix. It is a copy of the implied consent rules in effect at the time of

Bodden's arrest and they are silent regarding any urine test)

Courts through out Florida have recently held that lack of specificity in the Blood test rules renders the presumptions unavailable. <u>State v. Miles</u>, 25 Fla. Law Weekly S1082 (Fla. 2000), <u>State v. Townsend</u>, 746 So.2d 495

(2nd DCA 1999), <u>Searles v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 667 (2nd DCA 1999), <u>State v.</u>

<u>Sandt</u>, 751 So.2d 136 (2nd DCA 2000).

The State argues in it's brief that Florida Statutes do not require an approved test and that there is no delegation authorizing FDLE to promulgate such rules. **This is incorrect**. (emphasis added). See Florida Statute 322.63(1) and 322.63(3)(a).

C – Florida Statute 322.63

Florida Statute 322.63(1) states in pertinent part:

A person who accepts the privilege extended by the laws of this state of operating a commercial motor vehicle within this state, be deemed to have given his or her consent to submit to **an approved chemical or physical test of his or her blood, breath, or urine** for the purpose of detecting the presence of chemical substances ... or of controlled substances. (emphasis added).

Additionally, Florida Statute 322.63(3)(a) states in pertinent part:

The physical and chemical tests authorized in this section shall be administered substantially in accordance with **rules adopted by The Florida Department of Law Enforcement**.(emphasis added).

In 1993, FDLE took over the implied consent program from HRS. Included in the Respondent's appendix is a copy of the original rules that were in effect in 1993 (See Respondent's appendix C). Contained within

FDLE Rule 11D-8.001 entitled purpose – scope is the specific legislative authority citing to Florida Statute 322.63.

While the State claims that no authority exists for FDLE to promulgate rules for an approved urine test, this argument is clearly erroneous in light of Florida Statue 322.63. Additionally, the plain language of Florida Statute 322.63 requires an approved urine test, thereby rendering the State's argument invalid.

FDLE has clearly violated Florida Statute 322.63 because no urine test has been approved in accord with the Florida Administrative Procedures Act under Florida Statute 120.54. (See Respondent's appendix exhibit A - no rules exist supporting FDLE's requirement for an approved urine test pursuant to Florida Statute 322.63 under current implied consent rules)

The Respondent concedes that the statute in issue before this court is 316.1932. However, if commercial drivers are entitled to an approved urine test, then the rights of non-commercial drivers **must** be co-extensive. (emphasis added). <u>Traylor</u> at 970.

Adopting the previous argument relating to equal protection under the law, every driver must have the same entitlements and protection under Florida law. Therefore, Mr. Bodden was entitled to "an approved" urine test

Finally, in response to the State's argument on page 23 that breath/blood are different from urine and that's why no approved test is required for urine is also contradicted by Florida Statute 322.63.

D- The administrative procedures act, Florida Statute 120.50, et seq.

FDLE has violated Florida law in two (2) separate ways. First, the procedure used for testing urine samples violates the administrative procedures act because it has never been properly promulgated in accord with the act, and second, that failure to promulgate an approved test violates Florida Statute 316.1932.

Administrative agencies, like the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, are required to follow the promulgation procedure requirements as spelled out in chapter 120 of the Florida Statutes when adopting rules. The act provides a framework for administrative agency action and contains detailed provisions governing the promulgation of agency rules.

Section 120.52(16) defines a "rule" as an:

Agency statement of general applicability that implements, interprets, or prescribes laws or policy or describes the organization, procedure or practice requirements of an agency and includes any form which imposes any requirement or solicits any information not

specifically required by statute or by an existing rule.(Emphasis added)

It is this provision of the act that supports the Respondent's argument that the use of the procedure used for testing urine samples violated the administrative procedures act.

At the time of the Respondent's urine test, there was no rule in place that had been subject to the promulgation process under chapter 120.50 et seq. detailing how urine samples should be tested. Rather, FDLE, through Mr. Dale Livingston, developed and used a process of testing urine samples that had never been subjected to the Administrative procedures act.. (R. 136-140, 178-185). This testing procedure that Mr. Livingston employed should have been promulgated because it clearly falls within the definition of a "rule" and FDLE's failure to properly promulgate the procedure constituted an invalid delegation of legislative authority.

The testing procedure that Mr. Livingston employed for testing urine samples, implemented policy and procedure requirements, and imposed requirements for the testing of urine samples that was not required by another statute or existing rule. Mr.Livingston established a procedure for testing urine to determine the presence of many different types of substances that every analyst in the State of Florida used. (R. 178-185). The procedures were to be followed uniformly. (R. 178-185). Therefore, the testing

procedure that Mr. Livingston developed and which was used by every analyst for FDLE statewide to test urine samples in Florida should have been subject to the formal promulgation process and the failure to do so violated the administrative procedures act.

The failure to promulgate the procedure to approve these testing procedures is a violation of the administrative procedures act. <u>DOT v.</u>

<u>Blackhawk Quarry</u>, 528 So.2d 447 (5th DCA 1988), <u>State v. Reisner</u>, 584

So.2d 141 (5th DCA 1991), <u>Dept of revenue v. Vanjaria Enterprises</u>, 675

So.2d 252 (5th DCA 1996).

In Reisner, the Fifth DCA stated:

One intent of the purpose for specifying the method and means for such chemical tests is to ensure that only reliable scientific evidence is used in court proceedings to protect rights of Defendants facing the repercussions of statutory presumptions in their criminal trials. HRS must approve and specify the specific technology and methods for ensuring the accuracy of the machines used. It must do so by formally promulgating rules.

Reisner, supra. Therefore, FDLE was obligated to specify the procedure in accord with Reisner.

In <u>Vanjaria</u>, the court reviewed an equation to determine tax assessments. <u>Vanjaria</u>, supra. The court held that the procedure to determine the tax assessment constituted a rule and therefore should have been

promulgated. <u>Vanjaria</u>, Supra. Similarly, the procedure that Mr. Livingston used also constitutes a rule (A rule pursuant to Blackhawk Quarry is "an agency statement of general applicability that implements, interprets, or prescribes laws or policy or describes the organization, procedure or practice requirements of an agency and includes any form which imposes any requirement or solicits any information not specifically required by statute or by an existing rule, <u>Blackhawk Quary</u>, Supra.) and therefore, should have been promulgated. <u>Vanjaria</u>, Supra. In accord with the Vanjaria decision, FDLE's failure to promulgate the procedure for testing urine samples constitutes an invalid delegation of legislative authority and renders the testing procedure "unapproved".

E - The Traditional Predicate

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